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authorized to provide advice on such matters under applicable securities laws.  

 

This Directors’ Circular is issued in accordance with the Securities (Take-Overs and Mergers) Regulations, 1999 and Part 6 

(Takeovers, Mergers and Amalgamations) of the Junior Market Rules.  
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DIRECTORS’ LETTER 

 
January 23, 2017 

 

From:  The Board of Directors 

Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited  

226 Spanish Town Road 

Kingston 11 

 

To:  The Shareholders of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited 

 

On January 17, 2017, Derrimon Trading Company Limited (“Derrimon”) announced that it would 
make an offer to purchase 45,841,911 ordinary shares in Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances 

Limited (“CFF”), being all the CFF ordinary shares not already held by Derrimon (the “Offer”). The 
price being offered is J$4.50 per CFF ordinary share.  The Offer opened on January 20, 2017 and is 

scheduled to close on February 10, 2017.  The Offer is contained in a Take-Over Bid Circular issued 

by Derrimon and dated January 17, 2017 (the “Take-Over Bid Circular”). 
 

The procedure and requirements relating to acceptance of the Offer are set out in Derrimon’s 
Take-Over Bid Circular and the Form of Acceptance and Transfer circulated with Derrimon’s Take-

Over Bid Circular. 

 

This Directors’ Circular is issued in accordance with the Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market 

Rules General Principles Relating to Take-Overs and Mergers and the Securities (Take-Overs and 

Mergers) Regulations 1999. 

 

It is recommended that you read the Take-Over Bid and the Directors’ Circular carefully and that 

you consult your stockbroker, bank manager, attorney-at-law, accountant or other professional 

adviser. 
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1. GENERAL MATTERS 
 

1.1 DEFINITIONS 

  

Capitalised terms used in this Directors’ Circular shall have the following meanings: 

 

“Board” 

 

means the board of directors of CFF; 

“CFF” or “Company” 

 

means Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances 

Limited, a public company incorporated in 

Jamaica with its registered office at 226 Spanish 

Town Road, Kingston 11 in the Parish of Saint 

Andrew; 

 

“CFF Shareholder” means a registered holder of at least one (1) CFF 

Share; 

 

“CFF Shares” 

 

 

means the existing issued fully paid ordinary 

shares and/or stock units of no par value in the 

capital of CFF and which are in issue on the date 

of the Take-Over Bid Circular and any such further 

shares and/or stock units which are 

unconditionally allotted or issued while the Offer 

remains open for acceptance; 

 

“Derrimon” 

 

 

means Derrimon Trading Company Limited, a 

public company incorporated in Jamaica with its 

registered office at 233-235 Marcus Garvey Drive, 

Kingston 11 in the Parish of Saint Andrew; 

 

“Form of Acceptance and 

Transfer” 

 

means the Form of Acceptance and Transfer that 

accompanies the Take-Over Bid Circular; 

 

“J$” means Jamaican dollars, the lawful currency of 

Jamaica; 

 

“Jamaican Take-over Code” means the Securities (Take-Overs and Mergers) 

Regulations, 1999; 

 

“Jameses” 

 

means Anand James and Dr Joan James; 

“Jameses Shares” 

 

means the 23,379,208 CFF Shares owned by the 

Jameses; 

 

“JSE” means the Jamaica Stock Exchange; 

 

“JSE’s Junior Market” means the Junior Market of the JSE; 



4 | P a g e  

 

“Junior Market Rules” means the rules (for the time being) of the JSE’s 
Junior Market; 

 

 “Mayberry” means Mayberry Investments Limited, the Lead 

Broker, Receiving Agent and Paying Agent to the 

Offer; 

 

“Offer” means the offer by Derrimon to purchase all of 

the CFF Shares not already owned by the Offeror 

at the Offer Price more particularly described at 

paragraph 2.1; 

 

“Offeror” means Derrimon; 

 

“Offer Price” means J$4.50 per CFF Share payable in cash; 

 

“Special Committee”  means a committee of the Board composed of 

the independent directors, being those directors 

on the Board that are neither shareholders nor 

directors of Derrimon, namely Clive Nicholas, 

Wilford Heaven and Carlton Samuels; 

 

“Take-Over Bid Circular” means the offer document issued by the Offeror 

and dated January 17, 2017 setting out the details 

of the Offer; 

 

 

1.2 INTERPRETATION 

 

In this Directors’ Circular words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the 

plural and vice versa and references to one gender includes all other genders. References 

to a person shall include corporate bodies. 
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2. INTRODUCTION 
 

2.1. On January 17, 2017, Derrimon announced that it would make an offer to purchase the 

45,841,911 CFF Shares, being all the CFF Shares not already held by Derrimon (the 

“Offer”). The price being offered is J$4.50 per CFF Share.  The Offer opened on January 

20, 2017 and is scheduled to close on February 10, 2017.  The Offer is contained in the 

Take-Over Bid Circular.   

 

2.2. Derrimon is a company incorporated in Jamaica and listed on the JSE’s Junior Market. 

Derrimon currently owns 44,078,122 CFF Shares which represents approximately 49.02% 

of CFF’s issued ordinary share capital.  

 

2.3. It was disclosed in the Take-Over Bid Circular that, pursuant to an agreement dated 

August 17, 2016, Anand James and his wife Dr Joan James (the “Jameses”) agreed to sell 

the Jameses Shares (approximately 26.00% of CFF’s issued ordinary share capital) to 

Derrimon at J$4.50 per share. 

 

2.4. On December 21, 2016 Derrimon announced that it had commenced a process to acquire 

the Jameses Shares. The announcement stated that Derrimon prepaid J$105,206,436.00 

for the purchase of the Jameses Shares.  

 

2.5. The Take-Over Bid Circular states that notwithstanding Derrimon’s prepayment of 

J$105,206,436.00 to the Jameses for the purchase of the Jameses Shares, the transaction 

is not complete as the Jameses Shares have not yet been transferred to Derrimon. 

 

2.6. The Take-Over Bid Circular also states that Derrimon will acquire the Jameses Shares 

through a take-over bid and not otherwise. 

 

2.7. On receiving the Take-Over Bid Circular, in order to ensure independence of opinion, the 

Board took the decision to delegate to the Special Committee the task of reviewing and 

considering the Offer and giving its recommendation to the Board.  The Special 

Committee was chaired by Clive Nicholas. The Special Committee also engaged the 

services of Harrison & Harrison, Attorneys-at-Law, to advise it on legal and regulatory 

issues in respect of the preparation of the Directors’ Circular and in respect of the Offer 

generally. Notwithstanding the delegation to the Special Committee, the Board retains 

ultimate responsibility for the contents of this Directors’ Circular. 

 

2.8. This Directors’ Circular is issued in accordance with the Junior Market Rules and the 

Jamaican Take-over Code.  

 

2.9. It is recommended that you read the Take-Over Bid Circular and this Directors’ Circular 

carefully and that you consult your stockbroker, bank manager, attorney-at-law, 

accountant or other professional adviser. 
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3. THE OFFER 
 

3.1. The Offer by Derrimon is to purchase from the CFF Shareholders (other than Derrimon) all 

their CFF Shares at a price of J$4.50 per share.  

 

3.2. The table below summarises the key elements of the Offer: 

 

OFFER PRICE: 

 

J$4.50 

CLOSING PRICE ON THE JSE ON  JANUARY 

16, 2017 (THE TRADING DAY BEFORE 

ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE OFFER): 

 

 

J$11.95 

 

OPENING DATE OF THE OFFER:  

 

January 20, 2017 

DATE AFTER WHICH ACCEPTANCES WILL BE 

IRREVOCABLE: 

 

January 27, 2017  

ANNOUNCEMENT OF EXTENSION/NO 

EXTENSION: 

 

January 30, 2017 

INITIAL CLOSING DATE: 5.00 p.m. on February 10, 2017 unless the 

Offer period is extended by Derrimon, in 

which case the designated expiration date 

will be the Final Closing Date. 

 

INTEREST ON OFFER PRICE: 

 

Derrimon will pay to tendering Shareholders 

interest on CFF Shares tendered in response 

to the Offer at the prevailing weighted 

average six-month Treasury Bill rate of 

5.561% from December 21, 2016 up to but 

excluding the date of settlement. 

 

OFFER PRICE –WHEN PAYABLE: Within 14 days after the Final Closing Date to 

CFF Shareholders who accept the Offer. 

 

OFFER PRICE – HOW PAYABLE: 

 

In J$ by either a banker’s draft drawn on a 
local bank or by wire transfer. 

 

CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO THE OFFER: (i) The Offer is conditional on Derrimon’s 
receipt of a validly completed Form of 

Acceptance and Transfer appropriately 

executed and witnessed in respect of the 

Jameses Shares; 

 

(ii) The approval by the JSE for the transfer 

of the CFF Shares for which Forms of 
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Acceptance and Transfer have been 

received to be effected by way of an un-

interrupted put-through (i.e., block 

transaction) across the JSE’s Junior 
Market. 

 

HOW TO ACCEPT THE OFFER: 

 

CFF Shareholders accepting the Offer must 

follow the procedures which are outlined at 

paragraph 14 of the Take-Over Bid Circular, 

and more particularly set out in the Form of 

Acceptance and Transfer.   

 

JSE CESS & STOCKBROKER’S FEE: Derrimon will bear and pay stockbroking fees 

payable to Mayberry and the JSE cess (both 

on the sell and buy side) in order to effect a 

transfer of the CFF Shares validly tendered. 

  

 

3.3. Please note that although the Board has included in this Directors’ Circular certain 

references to the contents of the Take-Over Bid Circular for your convenience, all CFF 

Shareholders are strongly advised to read the Take-Over Bid Circular in its entirety for the 

full terms and conditions of the Offer. 

 

 

  



8 | P a g e  

 

4. ANALYSIS OF OFFER & RECOMMENDATION 
 

4.1 ANALYSIS OF OFFER 

 

4.1.1 The Board has issued this Directors’ Circular in compliance with the requirements 

of the Jamaican Take-over Code and the Junior Market Rules, the combined effect 

of which is to mandate the Board to provide CFF Shareholders (via this Directors’ 
Circular) with a recommendation as to acceptance or rejection of Derrimon’s 

Offer. Our recommendation is set out herein. 

 

4.1.2 In evaluating the Offer, the Board reviewed the Take-Over Bid Circular and would 

like to bring to your attention an extract of the Reason for the Offer (Paragraph 2 

of the Take-Over Bid Circular), as follows: 

 

“CFF was listed on the JSE’s Junior Market on October 2, 2013 at a price of 
J$2.25 per Share. The principals of the Company were Mr. Anand James 

and his wife Dr. Joan James. 

 

Pursuant to the 2016 Agreement the Jameses agreed to sell to us the 

following Shares in CFF (“the Jameses Shares”). 
 

Name Number of Shares % of CFF’s issued 
Share Capital 

Anand James  11,689,604 13.00% 

Joan James  11,689,604 13.00% 

Total 23,379,208 26.00% 

 

The agreed price per Share was J$4.50. 

 

Pursuant to a Deed of Assurance dated December 15, 2016 (“the Deed of 

Assurance”) we made a prepayment on December 21, 2016 to acquire the 
Jameses Shares. The sum prepaid was J$105,206,436.00 which, on 

completion, will translate to a price per CFF Share of J$4.50, i.e. the same 

as the Offer Price. That transaction has not yet been completed because 

the Jameses Shares have not been transferred to us as yet. 

 

As at January 13, 2017 the Shares are now trading at J$11.80 per Share on 

the JSE’s Junior Market. If we had completed the purchase of the Jameses 
Shares across the Stock Exchange at the agreed price of J$4.50, it would in 

our view have destabilised materially the market in the Shares and given a 

false or misleading appearance with respect to the price of the Shares. It 

could have also meant that we could lose some of the Jameses Shares in 

the course of the “crossing” of the Shares over the market. 
 

After taking professional advice on the matter, that drew our attention to 

the principles set out in the Securities (Take-overs and Mergers) 

Regulations, 1999 (“the Jamaican Take-over Code”), and Part 6 
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(Takeovers, Mergers and Amalgamations) of the Junior Market Rules, 

particularly our duty to take such steps as are necessary to prevent the 

creation of a false market in the Shares, we have determined that the 

most effective way of completing the purchase of the Jameses Shares is by 

way of a takeover bid which by its very nature: 

 

(i) is open and transparent; 

 

(ii) allows background information to be given to you, the 

Shareholders of CFF so that you can fully understand the special 

nature of the transaction; and 

 

(iii) will facilitate the transfer of the Jameses Shares by way of a block 

transaction without affecting the trading price on the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange. 

 

Our acquisition of the Jameses Shares would bring our total shareholding 

in CFF to 75.02%. Under the Jamaican Take-over Code if we had acquired 

the Jameses Shares that transaction would have triggered an obligation 

on our part to make a mandatory bid for the remaining shares at J$4.50 

per share. A similar obligation would have arisen under Part 6 (Takeovers, 

Mergers and Amalgamations) of the Junior Market Rules. 

 

For the foregoing reasons we will not acquire the Jameses Shares before 

making the take-over bid but instead will acquire the Jameses Shares as 

part of the take-over offer. The Jameses have agreed to accept the Offer in 

this Offer Circular. 

 

Accordingly, it will be seen that the real reason for this take-over is to 

acquire the Jameses Shares in a manner which will not disrupt the market 

in the Shares. If other shareholders accept this bid, we will be obliged to 

take up and pay for their tendered shares at the Offer Price of J$4.50. As 

the Shares are trading at J$11.80, it is not our expectation that other 

shareholders will tender Shares in response to this bid”. 
 

In the above extract the reference to the “2016 Agreement” means the 

agreement dated August 17, 2016 between the Jameses and Derrimon whereby 

the Jameses agreed to sell and Derrimon agreed to purchase the Jameses Shares 

at J$4.50 per share. 

 

4.1.3 Derrimon has indicated that it intends to fund the Offer from credit lines provided 

by Proven Investments Limited and Mayberry Investments Limited.  The 

commitment letters issued by Mayberry and Proven are among the documents 

available for inspection. The Special Committee is satisfied that Derrimon is, or will 

be, in a position to implement the Offer in full. 
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4.2 THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE BOARD 

 

4.2.1 The Special Committee guided the preparation of this Directors’ Circular and 
carefully reviewed and considered all relevant aspects of the Offer, including the 

Take-Over Bid Circular; the Fairness Opinion prepared by KPMG Advisory Services; 

the Valuation Report prepared by E.B.I. and Associates Limited; the advice of its 

legal advisors and such other information as it considered relevant. 

 

4.2.2 On this basis, the Special Committee recommended to the Board that the Offer by 

Derrimon to acquire all the issued ordinary shares in CFF payable in the manner 

set out in the Take-Over Bid Circular BE REJECTED. By this Directors’ Circular, the 

Board UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS REJECTION OF THE OFFER. 

 

4.3 WHY YOU SHOULD REJECT THE OFFER 

 

The factors set out below are the principal reasons for the UNANIMOUS recommendation 

of the Special Committee and the Board that all CFF Shareholders should REJECT the Offer 

and NOT TENDER any of their CFF Shares to the Offeror: 

 

 

FAIRNESS OPINION 

 

The Special Committee placed reliance on the Fairness Opinion prepared by KPMG 

Advisory Services, that states, inter alia, that as of the date of the Fairness Opinion and 

based upon and subject to the analyses, assumptions, qualifications and limitations 

discussed therein, from a financial point of view, the Offer Price, together with the 

interest on the Offer Price, is unfair to the Shareholders. A copy of the Fairness Opinion is 

set out at Appendix 6 to this Directors’ Circular. 

 

4.4 YOU ARE NOT OBLIGED TO ACCEPT THIS RECOMMENDATION.  It is recommended that 

CFF Shareholders seek independent financial advice before making their final decision to 

accept or reject the Offer by consulting a stockbroker, bank manager, attorney-at-law or 

other professional advisor. 
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5. GENERAL

5.1. The Board accepts full responsibility, collectively and individually, for all the information in

this Directors’ Circular relating to CFF. The Directors have taken all reasonable care to

ensure that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, those portions of the information

given herein for which they have particular responsibility, are in accordance with the facts

and do not omit anything likely to affect, in a material way, the import of such

information.

5.2. CFF Shareholders who are resident in, or citizens of, jurisdictions outside Jamaica or

persons who are custodians, nominees or trustees of shareholders and are residents of

jurisdictions outside Jamaica, are particularly advised to have regard to Schedule 3 of the

Take-Over Bid Circular which warns that such persons may be affected by the laws of the

relevant jurisdictions.

5.3. Listing on the JSE’s Junior Market

5.3.1 CFF was admitted to the JSE’s Junior Market on October 2, 2013.

5.3.2 Pursuant to the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 2016, CFF benefits from a two

phase ten (10) year concessionary corporate income tax regimes as follows:

(i) Phase One: for a period of five (5) years beginning from the date of listing,

100% of the corporate income tax otherwise payable by CFF is remitted;

and

(ii) Phase Two: for a period of five (5) years from the date of expiration of

Phase One, 50% of the corporate income tax otherwise payable by the

CFF is remitted.

5.3.3 A condition of the concessionary tax regime is that CFF remains listed on the JSE’s

Junior Market for a continuous period of at least fifteen (15) years from the date

of listing and is not during that period to be either suspended from the JSE’s

Junior Market or delisted. If CFF is suspended or delisted then it will become

liable to pay all corporate income taxes saved due to the concession.

5.3.4 If CFF were to be delisted before October 2, 2028, CFF would be required to repay

all corporate income tax saved.

5.3.5 CFF would become liable to be delisted if it breaches Junior Market Rule

505(14)(a) which prohibits a single shareholder from controlling, directly or

indirectly, more than 80% of the listed shares of the listed company. According to

the Take-Over Bid Circular, Derrimon has taken steps to ensure that its Offer will

not result in it owning more than 80% of the listed shares and being susceptible to

delisting; the relevant passage states:

“We have no plans to de-list [CFF] from the JSE’s Junior Market. If



12 | P a g e

[Derrimon] have to take up Shares tendered in response to this take-over

bid which takes us over the 80% delisting threshold then [Derrimon]

intend[s] to sell down the excess Shares over the 80% delisting threshold

to avoid triggering delisting of the Company”

5.3.6 The Board has not received the details of how Derrimon intends to sell down the

excess Shares over the 80% delisting threshold, we are therefore unable to offer

an opinion on how successful that process may be.

5.3.7 CFF could also be de-listed under the Junior Market Rules if on completion of the

Offer it has less than 25 participating voting Shareholders.

5.3.8 If the CFF Shares units are delisted, a Shareholder’s ability to trade them will be

negatively affected by – (i) the absence of an established market for these stock

units, as they cannot be traded on the floor of the JSE, and – (ii) the significantly

increased transaction costs resulting from the imposition of transfer tax and

stamp duty on the stated consideration on a sale transaction. Transfer tax is, by

law, borne by the seller.

6. APPENDICES & DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

6.1. Appendix 1 to this Directors’ Circular contains particular information that is expressly

required by the Jamaican Take-over Code and the JSE Take-Over Rules to be included

herein.

6.2. CFF’s audited financial statements for the financial year ended June 30, 2016, being the

last available audited financial statements as at the date hereof, are set out in Appendix 2,

together with the consent of CFF’s auditors, McKenley and Associates. The auditors have

given and not withdrawn their written consent to the inclusion of these financial

statements, inclusive of their report thereon, in this Directors’ Circular.

6.3. CFF’s profit and loss statements for the previous five (5) financial years, as extracted from

the financial statements for the period are set out at Appendix 3.

6.4. The unaudited financial statements for the three (3) month period ending on September

30, 2016 are set out at Appendix 4 together with the required certification. CFF’s chief

financial controller has certified that the unaudited financial statements produced in this

Directors’ Circular represent a true and fair position of the financial position of CFF over

the periods in question.

6.5. The Valuation Report of December 15, 2016 prepared by E.B.I. and Associates Limited in

respect of CFF’s fixed assets is set out at Appendix 5, together with their consent. E.B.I.

and Associates Limited have given and not withdrawn their written consent to the

inclusion of their Valuation Report in this Directors’ Circular.

6.6. The Fairness Opinion prepared by KPMG Advisory Services dated January 19, 2017
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together with their consent is set out at Appendix 6. KPMG Advisory Services has given 

and not withdrawn their written consent to the inclusion of their Fairness Opinion in this 

Directors’ Circular. 

 

6.7. All of the appendices referred to herein form part of this Directors’ Circular. 

 

6.8. CFF’s Articles of Incorporation and CFF’s audited financial statements for the financial 

years 2011-2016 are available for inspection at the offices of Mayberry Investments 

Limited, 1½ Oxford Road, Kingston 5 during the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. from 

Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays) from the issue of this Directors’ Circular until 

the closing of the Offer. 

 

 

This Directors’ Circular is dated January 23, 2017 

 

We, being duly authorized to sign on behalf of the Board of CFF certify that the foregoing does not 

omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement 

not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  

 

We further certify that the contents of this Directors’ Circular have been approved, and delivery of 
this Directors’ Circular to the CFF Shareholders authorised, by Resolution of the Board passed on 
January 20, 2017.  

 

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS BY: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________ 

Clive Nicholas 

Acting Chairman 

 

 

 

 

 



APPENDIX 1 
 

The information set out in this Appendix 1 is required to be included in the Directors’ Circular by 
the Jamaican Take-Over Code and the JSE’s Junior Market Rules. 
 

1. As far as the Board is aware, the number of CFF Shares directly or indirectly, legally or 

beneficially owned by each director or officer of CFF as at January 13, 2017 is outlined 

below: 

 

  

Director or Officer 

 

Direct 

Shareholding 

 

 

Connected Party 

 

 

Indirect 

Shareholding 

 

1. Clive Nicholas 

(Acting Chairman) 

100,000 n/a 

 

n/a 

2. Anand James 11,689,604 Dr Joan James 

(wife of Anand James) 

11,689,604 

3. Derrick Cotterell  

 

Nil Derrimon Trading 

Company Limited 

(Director and largest 

shareholder) 

 

44,078,122 

4. Wilford Heaven Nil n/a 

 

n/a 

5. Carlton Samuels 50,000 

 

n/a n/a 

6. Ian Kelly 2,322,814 

 

Derrimon Trading 

Company Limited 

(Director) 

 

n/a 

7. Janice Lee  

 

Nil n/a n/a 

8. Rhonde 

McPherson  

 

Nil n/a n/a 

 

2. According to the Take-Over Bid Circular, Howard Mitchell, B.Sc. (Govt.) LL.M., J.P. was a 

member and Chairman of the Board. On August 7, 2016 Mr. Mitchell resigned to assume the 

chairmanship of the Financial Services Commission.  Mr Mitchell, as at January 13, 2017, 

owns 1,444,395 CFF Shares (approx. 1.61%). 

 

  



 

 

3. The Mentor of CFF is Mrs Tania Waldron-Gooden. She does not own any CFF Shares. Mrs 

Waldron-Gooden is a senior executive at Mayberry. As at January 13, 2017, the following 

parties connected with Mayberry own the stated amount of CFF Shares: 

 

Mayberry West Indies Bank Limited 3,000 CFF Shares approx. 0.00% 

Mayberry Investments Limited  

(Managed Clients Accounts) 

2,697,546 CFF Shares approx. 3.00 % 

Konrad Berry  

(a Mayberry Director) 

1,768,214 CFF Shares approx. 1.97% 

The Trustees of the Mayberry 

Investments Ltd. Pension Scheme 

972,945 CFF Shares approx. 1.08 % 

 

The Offeror has engaged Mayberry to act as lead broker, receiving agent and paying 

agent for purposes of the Offer and Mayberry will receive fees for its services.   

 

4. To the best of the knowledge of the Board, the persons or companies directly or indirectly 

beneficially holding more than 10% of the voting rights of CFF as at January 13, 2017  are: 

 

Derrimon Trading 

Company Ltd. 

44,078,122 CFF Shares  

 

(approximately 49.02%) 

Anand James 11,689,604 CFF Shares  

 

(approximately 13.00%) 

Joan James 11,689,604 CFF Shares  

 

(approximately 13.00%) 

 

5. Based on a notice uploaded to the Jamaica Stock Exchange’s website by Derrimon on 
December 21, 2016, Derrimon announced that it has commenced a process to acquire the 

Jameses Shares from the Jameses. The Take-Over Bid Circular states that Derrimon will not 

acquire the Jameses Shares before making the take-over bid, but instead will acquire the 

Jameses Shares as part of the take-over bid offer. It also states that the Jameses have 

agreed to accept the Offer in the Take-Over Bid. 

 

6. As far as the Board is aware, Derrimon is the Offeror and will not tender its CFF Shares. 

 

  



 

 

7. As far as the Board is aware, the number of shares of Derrimon owned directly or indirectly, 

legally or beneficially by each director or officer of CFF as at January 13, 2017 is as outlined 

below: 

 

  

Director 

 

Direct 

Shareholding 

 

Connected Party 

 

Indirect  

Shareholding 

 

1. Clive Nicholas (Acting 

Chairman) 

**  

 

** 

2. Anand James **  ** 

3. Derrick Cotterell  

 

110,000,000 Monique Cotterell  
(wife of Derrick 

Cotterell) 

40,000,000 

4. W. “Billy” Heaven **  

 

** 

5. Carlton Samuels ** 

 

 ** 

6. Ian Kelly 15,743,459 

 

Claudia Smith 1,000,000 

7. Janice Lee 

 

**  ** 

8. Rhonda McPherson 

 

**  ** 

9. Tania Waldron-

Gooden (mentor) 

**  ** 

 

8. As far as the Board is aware and after due enquiry, no person or company, as of January 13, 

2017,  beneficially owns 10% or more of the shares in Derrimon and also owns shares in CFF 

EXCEPT FOR Manwei International Limited which owns 50,019,790 shares in Derrimon 

(approximately 18.30%) and 975,828 CFF Shares. 

 

9. According to the Take-Over Bid Circular, the following arrangements have been made or are 

proposed to be made between Derrimon and the following officers or directors of CFF:  

 

a) Pursuant to an agreement dated August 17, 2016 Anand James (a Director of CFF) 

agreed to sell 11,689,604 CFF Shares at a price of J$4.50 per Share to Derrimon. Dr Joan 

James is also a party to the 2016 Agreement and has also agreed to sell 11,689,604 CFF 

Shares to Derrimon; 

 

b) Pursuant to a Deed of Assurance dated December 15, 2016, Derrimon made a 

prepayment on December 21, 2016 to acquire the Jameses Shares. The sum prepaid was 

J$105,206,436.00 which, on completion, will translate to a price per CFF Share of J$4.50, 

i.e. the same as the Offer Price. That transaction is not complete because the Jameses 

Shares have not been transferred to Derrimon;  



 

 

 

c) If Derrimon purchases the Jameses Shares, Derrimon has no intention to make any 

changes to the current Board; and 

 

d) Derrimon plans no variation in the total emoluments receivable by the directors of CFF 

as a result of the Offer. No director or officer of CFF will receive any bonus or other 

compensation as a result of the outcome of this take-over bid.  

 

10. As far as the Board is aware no director or officer of CFF, and no person or company 

beneficially holding over 10% of the voting rights of CFF, has any interest in any material 

contracts to which CFF is a party. 

 

11. The volume of trading and price range of the stock of CFF Shares on the JSE’s Junior Market 
from July 2016 to January, 16 2017 being the six (6) month period preceding the Offer are as 

follows: 

 

Month Trade Volume 
Monthly 

Low 
Monthly High 

Offer Premium/ 

(Offer Discount) 

to Monthly Low 

Offer 

Premium /       

(Offer 

Discount) to  

Monthly High  

July 187,354 6.51 7.00 (31%) (36%) 

August 1,011,962 6.10 7.20 (26%) (38%) 

September 117,305 7.76 8.99 (42%) (50%) 

October 918,218 8.00 8.99 (44%) (50%) 

November 52,647 8.40 8.61 (46%) (48%) 

December 105,757 8.99 13.00 (50%) (65%) 

*January 30,987 11.20  12.00 (60%)  (63%) 

* As of January 16, 2017 

 

The foregoing information in the table above is extracted from information available 

from the JSE and was not verified with, or by, us. 

 

12. The audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2016 and the unaudited 

financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 are herein attached at 

Appendix 2 and Appendix 4 respectively.  The Board is not aware of any information that 

indicates any material change in the financial position or prospects of CFF since the 

Company’s last published interim financial statements EXCEPT FOR the payment of a 

dividend as set forth below: 

 

Record Date Amount of 

Dividend 

Ex-Dividend Date Payment Date 

September 22, 2016 J$0.10 September 20, 2016 October 6, 2016 

 



 

 

13. As far as the Board is aware, none of the directors or officers of CFF has purchased or sold 

CFF Shares or shares in Derrimon in the six (6) months preceding the opening of the Offer, 

EXCEPT THAT:  

 

(a) on May 20, 2016 Ian Kelly, a Director and Chief Financial Officer of CFF 

purchased 2,000,000 CFF Shares (approx. 2.22%) on the open market at a price 

of J$8.00 per Share. In purchasing those CFF Shares, Mr. Kelly acted 

independently and without the prior knowledge of CFF’s Board; 
 

(b) on May 27, 2016, former chairman Howard Mitchell purchased  1,000,000 CFF 

Shares (approx. 1.11%) on the open market at a price of J$8.00  per Share; and 

 

(c) on May 20, 2016, May 27, 2016 and October 12, 2016, Anthony James, 

connected person to Director Anand James sold 2,000,000, 1,000,000 and 

820,700 (collectively (approx. 4.24%) at a price of J$8.00 ,  J$8.00  and J$8.60  

per Share, respectively.   

 

14. As far as the Board is aware, none of the directors or officers of Derrimon has purchased or 

sold CFF Shares or shares in Derrimon in the six (6) months preceding the opening of the 

Offer. 

 

15. CFF’s Audited Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2016 are set out in Appendix 
2 attached hereto. 

 

16. CFF profit and loss summaries extracted from the audited financial statements for the five 

financial years ended 2011 - 2016 are set out in Appendix 3.  

 

17. CFF’s Unaudited Financial Statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 are set out 
in Appendix 4. 

 

18. At the request of CFF, E.B.I. and Associates Limited carried out a valuation of the fixed assets 

as at December 15, 2016. Their valuation and their written consent are reproduced at 

Appendix 5.  

 

19. The report from E.B.I. and Associates Limited states at page 7 that the valuation exercise 

was conducted with emphasis on piecemeal disposal of the CFF plant machinery, 

equipment, furniture, fixtures, fittings and leasehold improvements listed. It goes on to 

state that their findings reflect a net current realisable value of SIXTEEN MILLION FIVE 

HUNDRED AND ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS (J$16,501,700.00) and that 

even with the piecemeal disposal proposed, a further 10-20% may be factored on/off 

certain items in expediting a sale.  

 

20. The Board is not aware of any other material fact which ought to be disclosed and neither 

the JSE nor the Financial Services Commission of Jamaica has requested the disclosure of 

any additional information. 

  



�
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Audited Financial Statements of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited for the year ending 

June 30, 2016 
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To the Members of 
Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
  
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Caribbean Flavours and 
Fragrances Limited (the “Company” or “CFFL”) which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June  2016, and the statement of comprehensive income, changes in 
stockholders‟ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the 
requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal controls as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditors’ Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards of Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor‟s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity‟s preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity‟s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
  
  
 
  
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Members of 
Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
Opinion  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited as at 30 June 2016 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies 
Act. 

 
Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief, were necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as appears from 
our examination of those records, and the financial statements, which are in agreement 
therewith, give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act in the manner so 
required. 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants  
Kingston, Jamaica  
 
24 August 2016 
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 Note 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

     

     

Revenue 3            362,500         306,807 

Cost of sales           (227,805)     (193,355) 

Gross profit             134,695        113,452 

Bad debt recovered  -                94 

Impairment of fixed asset    - 

Selling and distribution costs 4              (5,013)          (2,133) 

Administrative expenses 5             (67,183)        (59,257) 

Operating profit               62,499        52,156 

Finance income 6             11,571           5,581 

Finance cost 6 -               (21) 

Profit before tax             74,070        57,716 

Taxation  7 -  - 

Net profit being total comprehensive income for year              74,070          57,716 

   

   

                           

Earnings per share 8                $0.82  $0.64 
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Statement of Financial Position 
30 June 2016  

 

 

 
 Note 2016  2015 
  $’000  $’000 
 
Non-Current Assets 

    

Property, plant and equipment  9                  2,997               1,358 

     

Current Assets     

Inventories 10 71,751  62,873 
Receivables  11 39,445  60,914 
Taxation recoverable  4,464  4,085 
Investments 12           52,803         50,000 
Cash and cash equivalents 13         124,632         53,488 
          293,095       231,360 
Current liability     
Payables     14   19,741  30,437 
Net Current Assets  273,354  200,923 
  276,351  202,281 

Stockholders’ Equity     
Share capital 15  56,200  56,200 
Retained earnings  220,151  146,081 
  276,351  202,281 

     
 

 

 
 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 August 2016 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
……………………………..….                                            ….…………………………..… 
Clive Nicholas – Director                                      Carlton Samuels – Director 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
30 June 2016  

 

 

 

*restated for comparative purposes. Amount was not shown in prior year.

                                                                                               
     

Note 2016 

$’000 

 2015              
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities:     

Profit for the year   74,070   57,716 

Items not affecting cash:    

Interest income                                                                        6       (6,521)   (4,264) 

Interest expense 6                         -  *21 

Depreciation   9                    918                675 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets                          1                    - 

                 68,468  *54,148  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities -     

Inventories               (8,878)  (21,123) 

Receivables   21,469  (13,021) 

Payables      (10,696)         9,613 

Taxation recoverable  (379)               129 

  1,516         (24,402) 

Cash provided by operating activities                 69,984            *29,746 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of fixed assets  (2,558)              (713) 

Purchase of investment  (2,803)        (50,000) 

Interest received  6,521  4,264 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities                1,160     (46,449) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Repayment of loan 

Interest expense 

 -     (693) 
*(21) 

Dividend paid   18 -  (8,992) 

Net cash used in financing activities  -  *(9,706) 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  71,144  (26,409) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                 53,488           79,897 

Cash and cash equivalents at  end of year                               13              124,632           53,488 

     

Represented by:     

Cash on hand                      718             3,167 

Bank balances               123,914           33,321  

Fixed deposits                         -            17,000 

               124,632  53,488 
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Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
30 June 2016  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Share Capital 
 

$’000 

Retained 
Earnings 

$’000 

Total 
 

$’000 
Balance at 30 June 2013                    5,620 58,956 64,576 
Issue of shares                  50,580 - 50,580 
Net profit as previously reported                           - 50,547 50,547 
Prior year tax charge - (3,153) (3,153) 
Net profit as restated - 47,394 47,394 
 56,200 106,350 162,550 
Dividend paid                           - (8,993) (8,993) 
Balance restated as at 30 June 2014                  56,200 97,357 153,557 
Net Profit                          -  57,716                  57,716 
Dividend paid                          - (8,992)                  (8,992) 
Balance at 30 June 2015                 56,200 146,081                  202,281 
Net Profit                          - 74,070                    74,070 
Balance at 30 June 2016                  56,200 220,151                   276,351 
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1.  IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited (“the Company”) is incorporated under the Companies Act 
of Jamaica and domiciled in Jamaica. Its principal activity is the manufacture and distribution of flavours, 
mainly for the beverage, baking and confectionary industries. Its registered office is located at 226 
Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11. 
 
These financial statements are presented using Jamaican dollars, which is considered the functional 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 

 
Effective 2 October 2013, the Company‟s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica           
Stock Exchange.  

 
2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        

   POLICIES 
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 

           The financial statements of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited have been prepared in   
            accordance and compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their    
            interpretations adopted by the International Standards Board and comply with the provisions of   
            the Jamaican Companies Act.  

 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the 
year. 
 
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, certain new, revised and amended 
standards and interpretations came into effect during the year and as at 1 January 2016. 
 
Management has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and 
amendments and determine that the majority of the standards did not have a significant effect on 
the amounts and disclosures in these financial statements. The principal standards that became 
effective included improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles. 
 
These cycles contained amendments to certain standards and interpretations that were effective 
1 January 2016 and the main amendments applicable to the Company are as follows: 
 

 IFRS 13, Fair value Measurement is amended to clarify that issuing of the standard and 
consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 was not intended to prevent entities 
from measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at 
their invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is immaterial. 
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 

 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during 
the year (continued): 
 

 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets. 
 

 The standards have been amended to clarify that at the date of revaluation 
 
(i) the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of 

the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation ( or amortisation) is 
adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying 
amount of the asset after accounting for impairment losses or; 

(ii) the accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset.  

(iii) the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of 
the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation ( or amortisation) is 
adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the carrying 
amount of the asset after accounting for impairment losses or; 

(iv) the accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset.  

(v) revenue based methods of depreciation cannot be used. Such methods are not suitable 
because they reflect factors  other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in 
the assets. 

 
 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures has been amended to extend the definition of “related 

party” to include a management entity that provides key management personnel services 
to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group entity. For related party 
transactions that arise when key management personnel services are provided to a 
reporting entity, the reporting entity is required to separate the amounts that it has 
recognised as an expense for those services that are provided by a management entity; 
however, it is not required to „look through‟ the management entity and disclose 
compensation paid to individuals providing the key management personnel services.  

 

 IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements has been amended to clarify or state the 
following: 

 
(i) the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed 
(ii) specific criteria is now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of financial 

position and in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) 
(iii) the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint ventures and 

associates should be accounted for according to the equity method and follows IAS1 
(iv) approach of splitting items into those that may be reclassified to profit or loss and those 

that will never be reclassified  
(v) Specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be disclosed 
(vi) Line items in the financial statements should be disaggregated if this provides useful 

information to users.  
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the 
year (continued): 

 
 Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements, allow the 

use of the equity method in separate financial statements, and apply to the accounting 
for subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. 

 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, was adjusted to confirm 
that the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements is available to a 
parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity.   

 
 IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities, was amended to clarify that the 

relevant disclosure requirements in the standards apply to an investment entity in which 
all of its subsidiaries are measured for fair value through profit or loss.  

 
The adoption of these amendments by the management of the Company did not result in any 
change to the presentation and disclosures in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June, 
2016 
 
Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 cycle, contain amendments to certain standards and 
interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 
main amendments include: 

 
 IFRS 5 Non- Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
 IFRS Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
 IFRS 7 has also been amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by 

Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 7) are 
not specifically required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements for all interim 
periods. 

 IAS 34, interim Financial Reporting has been amended to clarify that certain disclosure, if they 
are not included in the notes to interim financial statements, may be disclosed “elsewhere in the 
interim financial report”.
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective: 
 

            At the date of authorization of the financial statements, certain new and revised and amended 
standards and interpretations were in issue but were not yet effective for the current year and 
which the Company has not early adopted.  
 
Management has assessed all such new standards, amendments and interpretation with 
respect to its operations and has determined that as a small and medium size (SME) entity, the 
majority of the standards will have no impact on the Company‟s Financial Statements. The principal 
standards included 
 

 IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 
Revenue, IFRS 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC -31 
Revenue- Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. It does not apply to 
insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts which fall in the scope of other 
IFRSs 

 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2018, replaces the existing guideline in IAS 39 Financial; Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS9 principal focus includes revised guidance on the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, including a new expected 
credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge 
accounting requirements.   

 
 IFRS 16 leases, which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model and off balance sheet operating 
leases. Instead, there is a single method to account for leases where assets will be 
reflected on the balance sheet similar to current finance lease accounting.  

 
Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify leases 
as finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease 
accounting, with recognition of net investment in lease comprising receivable and residual asset. 
Operating lease accounting will be based on IAS 17.  
 
The Company is assessing the impact that the foregoing standards and amendments will have 
on its financial statements when they become effective and are adopted.  
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
   (b) Basis of preparation   

 
The financial statements of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited have been prepared in 
accordance with and compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) under 
the historical cost convention. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 
applying the Company‟s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on 
management‟s best knowledge of current events and action, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are noted below: 

 
(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
  

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual events. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 
(i) Allowances for losses 
 

In determining amounts recorded for allowance for losses in the financial statements, 
management makes judgments regarding indicators of impairment, that is, whether there are 
indicators that suggest there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from accounts receivable and other financial assets. For example, a decrease in cash 
flow may result from repayment default and adverse economic conditions. Management also 
makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired financial assets, 
including the net realizable value of underlying collateral, as well as the timing of such cash 
flows. The adequacy of the allowance depends on the accuracy of these judgments and 
estimates.  
 

(ii) Depreciable assets 
 
Estimates of the useful life and the residual value of property, plant and equipment are 
required in order to apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic benefits embodied in 
these assets in the relevant periods. The Company applies a variety of methods in an effort 
to arrive at these estimates from which actual results may vary. Actual variations in estimated 
useful lives and residual values are reflected in profit or loss through impairment or adjusted 
depreciation provisions.  
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 
 

(iii) Income taxes 
 

Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business.  
 
The Company recognizes liabilities for possible tax issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were originally recorded, such differences will impact the income tax in the 
period in which such determination is made. 
 

(iv)    Post-employment benefits 
 
Accounting for some post-employment benefits requires the use of actuarial techniques to 
make a realizable estimate of the amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior periods. The Company does not operate a defined 
benefit contribution pension scheme and therefore no judgment or estimate was required in 
this regard. The Company has implemented an individual retirement account (IRA) plan 
operated at a reputable financial institution for some categories of staff. The Company is only 
responsible to match employees‟ contributions to the plan. 

   
(v)     Accruals 

Amounts accrued for certain expenses are based on estimates and are included in payables 
and accruals. 

 

(vi)    Net realizable value of inventories. 
 
Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available, at the 
time the estimates are made, of the amounts the inventories are expected to realize. These 
estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or costs directly relating to events 
occurring after the end of the year to the extent that such events confirm conditions existing 
at the end of the year. 

   
(vii)     Fair value estimation 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm‟s length transaction. A number of assets and 
liabilities included in the Company‟s financial statements require measurement or disclosure 
at fair value.  
 
The fair value measurement of the Company‟s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities 
utilizes market observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair 
value measurements are categorized into different levels based on how observable are the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques.
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
(d) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

 
(viii)   Fair value estimation (continued) 

 
The fair value hierarchy is: 
 
Level 1   Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2   Observable direct or indirect inputs other than level 1 input 
Level 3   Unobservable inputs that are not derived from market data   
  
The classification of an item into the above level is based on the lowest level of inputs used 
that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfer of items 
between levels is recognized in the period that they occur.  
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets, such as available-for-sale 
investments, is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market 
price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These 
instruments are included in level 1 and comprise equity instruments traded on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange (JSE). 
       

(e) Going concern 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS assumes that the                    
Company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. This substantially means 
that the statements of profit or loss and comprehensive income and financial position assume no 
intention or necessity to liquidate or curtail the scale of operations. This is referred to as the            
going concern concept. Management believes that the preparation of the financial statements on 
the going concern basis continues to be appropriate as there are no pending matters that may        
disrupt or curtail the operations of the Company. 

 
(f) Property, plant and equipment 
  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation on assets under construction does not commence until they are complete and 
available for use. Depreciation on all other property, plant and equipment is calculated on the 
straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write-off the carrying value of the assets over the 
period of their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The annual rates are as follows:- 
           

          Leasehold property & improvements                                                    10% 
          Buildings                                                                                          2 1/2% 
          Plant and machinery, furniture and fixtures, office equipment              10% 
          Computer equipment                                                                      33 1/3%  
          Motor vehicles                                                                                      25%
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
(f)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)  

 
The assets‟ residual values and useful life are reviewed periodically for impairment. Where an 
asset‟s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized in other income in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenditure are charged to statement of comprehensive income during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 
(g) Inventories  

 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined principally on a weighted average cost 
basis and fair value less costs to sell. Cost is determined as follows: 
 
Finished goods: costs of product plus all indirect costs such as labour and appropriate allocations 

 for overhead expenses to bring the product to a saleable condition.  
Work-in-progress: cost of product, labour plus appropriate allocations for overhead expenses. 
Goods-in-transit  : cost of goods translated at the year- end exchange rate. 

 
(h) Foreign currency translations  

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
the transactions.  

 
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated to Jamaican dollars using the 
closing rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-
monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of transactions at rates different from those at 
the dates of the transactions and unrealized foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign 
currency monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss.  
 

(i)  Trade receivables  
Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realisable value. A provision is made for impairment of 
trade receivables when it is established that there is objective evidence that the Company will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statement of 
comprehensive income.   
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
   POLICIES (continued) 

 
(j) Revenue recognition  

 
Revenue is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risk and rewards of ownership 
of goods have been passed to the buyers and the amounts of revenue can reliably be measured. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, 
and other sales taxes or duty. 
 
Rental, other income and interest income are recognized as they accrue unless collectability is in 
doubt. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

(k)Current and deferred Income taxes  
 

Current 
 

Current tax charges are based on taxable profits for the year, which differ from the profit before tax 
reported because taxable profits exclude items that are taxable or deductible in other years, and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company‟s liability for current tax is calculated at 
tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax  

 
Deferred tax is the tax that is expected to be paid or recovered on the differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax is 
provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax 
is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  

 
Deferred tax is charged or credited to statement of income, except where it relates to items 
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case deferred tax is also 
dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity. 
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
      POLICIES (continued) 

 
(l) Financial instruments  

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for one entity and a 
financial liability or equity of another entity.  
 
Financial assets 

 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables and 
investments available for sale and held to maturity categories. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets are acquired. Management determines the classification of 
its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.    
 
Loans and receivables 
 
These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market; they are principally through the provision of goods and services to 
customers (e.g. trade receivable) but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets. 
They are included in current assets and include short term investments, accounts receivable, other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Investments 
 
(i)  Available-for-sale 

 

These are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the 
investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
(ii)  Held-to-maturity 

 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Company‟s management has the intention and ability to 
hold to maturity. Where the Company is required to sell other than an insignificant amount of 
held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would be compromised and reclassified as 
available-for-sale. 
 
At the date of the statement of financial position, the Company held no investments in these 
categories. 
 

Financial liabilities 
  

The Company‟s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective rate interest method. At the date of the statement of 
financial position, the following items were classified as financial liabilities: bank overdraft, current 
portion of long term loans and accounts payables and accruals.   
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
      POLICIES (continued) 

 
(m)  Borrowing and borrowing costs   

 
Bank and other borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost. 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets are capitalized during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset 
for its intended use. Capitalization of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the period 
in which they are incurred. 

 
(n) Dividends  

 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in stockholder‟s equity in the period in which they 
become legally payable. Interim dividends are due when declared and approved by the directors 
while final dividends are approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

 
Dividends for the year that are declared after the reporting date are disclosed in the subsequent 
events note. 

 
(o) Provisions  
 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where 
the Company expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of 
time is recognized as an interest expense. 

   
(p) Cash and cash equivalent  

 

Cash and cash equivalent are carried at the statement of financial position date at cost. For the 
purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short term deposits with original maturities of three months or less, net of bank 
overdraft.  
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
      POLICIES (continued) 

 
(q) Impairment of non-current assets  

 
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment losses 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 
assets exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the greater of an asset‟s net selling price and 
value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identical cash flows. 

 
Calculation of recoverable amount and reversal of impairment 
 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable amount. 
 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset‟s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation. Such reversal is recognized in the income statement unless the 
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. 

 
  (r) Employee benefits 

 
(i) Employee benefits include current or short term benefits such as salaries, statutory 

contributions paid, annual vacation and sick leave and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care. Entitlement to annual leave and other benefits are recognized when they 
accrue to employees. 

(ii) The Company does not operate a pension scheme 
(iii) The Company does not have a formal profit-sharing or bonus plan in place for permanent      

employees. 
 
(s) Related parties  

 
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing the financial 
statements; referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity.” 

                
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if    

that person:  
(iv) Has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 
(v)      Has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 
(vi) Is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of 

the reporting entity. 
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2.   STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE, BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING        
      POLICIES (continued) 

 
(s) Related parties (continued) 

 
(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply: 

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group. 
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity. 
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party 
(iv) One entity is joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity. 
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. 
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a) above. 
(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity. 
 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related 
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 

(t)  Earnings per share   
 

The earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders 
by the number of ordinary shares issued. 

 
(u) Segment reporting 
 

An operating segment is a component of a company that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; whose operating results are regularly reviewed 
by the entity‟s Chief Operation Decision Maker (CODM) to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information 
is available. 

 
Based on the information presented to and reviewed by the CODM, the entire operations of the 
Company are considered as one operating segment. 
 

(v) Share Capital  
 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributed to the issue of 
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. 

  
(w)Trade and other payables  

 
Trade and other payables are stated at amortized cost. 

 
(x) Comparative balances  

 
When necessary, comparative figures are reclassified to conform to the changes in presentation 
in the current year. 
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3.   REVENUE RECOGNITION  
 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods in 
the ordinary course of the Company‟s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax, 
returns and discounts. 

 
The Company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Company and specific criteria have been met in 
relation to the Company‟s activities as described below: 

 
      Sale of goods 

 
Sales are recognised upon delivery of products, customer acceptance of the products and collectivity 
of the related receivables is reasonably assured. 

 
Dividend income 

 
Dividend income, if any, is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
Interest income 

 
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis   
using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes 
coupons earned on fixed income investments. 

   
 
4.   SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS 
 

 
 

Selling and distribution costs include the cost of monthly electronic and print costs along with the 
operating expenses of the two (2) motor vehicles owned by the Company which are used by the 
salesmen for islandwide delivery of the Company‟s manufactured products.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Advertising and promotion 
Bad Debt expense 

         3,500 
            878 

          1,346  
                 - 

Motor vehicle expenses 635  787 
 5,013  2,133 
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5.  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 
6.  FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Audit fee 1,500  1,440 

Bank charges 794  628 
Depreciation 918  675 

Donations and subscriptions 754  593 
Entertainment 18  458 

Insurance 1,591  1,514 

Rent 7,740  7,200 
Legal and professional fees 1,990  4,083 

Motor vehicle 442  709 

Office and general 2,273  1,659 

Asset and other taxes 282  240 

Printing and stationery 342  401 

Repairs and maintenance 2,412  1,758 

Staff costs (Note 16) 30,499  23,288 

Security 1,255  573 
Telephone and postage 1,691  1,381 

Travelling 2,756  1,925 
Utilities 2,496  2,252 
Director‟s fees 1,430  980 
Director‟s remuneration 6,000  7,500 

 67,183  59,257 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Finance income -    
Interest income                       6,521                      4,264 

Net foreign exchange gains 5,050                      1,317 
 11,571                      5,581 

Finance costs -    
Loan interest incurred                               -                          (21) 
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7.   TAXATION 
 
Taxation is based on profit for the year adjusted for taxation purposes and comprises: 

 

The tax effect of difference between treatment of items for financial statements and taxation purposes 
is as follows: 
 

 
No account is taken of deferred taxation during the year ended 30 June 2016 because the Company 
was granted a remission from income tax as a result of listing on the Junior Market of the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange (JSE), effective 2 October 2013.  
 

Remission of income tax 
 
By notice dated 13 August 2009, the Minister of Finance and the Public Service, issued and 
gazetted the Income Tax (Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market) (Remission) Notice, 2009. The 
Notice effectively granted a remission of income tax to eligible companies that were admitted to the 
Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) if certain conditions were achieved after the 
date of initial admission. 
 

Effective 2 October 2013, the Company‟s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the JSE and is 
therefore not subject to income tax for the year ended 30 June 2016. The Company is entitled to a 
remission of income taxes for ten years in the following proportion: 
 
Years 2014 - 2018 – 100% of standard rate 
Years 2019 - 2023 – 50% of standard rate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Current taxation -  - 

 -  - 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Profit before tax 74,070  57,716 

Taxation at 25%  18,518  14,429 
Difference between depreciation and capital allowances                          (75)  68 
Expenses not allowed for tax purposes 71  60 
Unrealized foreign currency conversion gain -  - 
Remission of income tax                     (18,514)                    (14,557) 
Current taxation NIL  NIL 
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7.   TAXATION (continued) 
 
Remission of income tax (continued) 
 
Provided the following conditions are met: 
 
(i) the Company remains listed for at least 15 years and is not suspended from the JSE for any 

breaches of its rules. 

(ii) the Subscribed Participating Voting Share Capital of the Company does not exceed J$500 
million 

(iii) the Company has at least 50 Participating Voting Shareholders 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company will have the full 
benefit of the tax remissions. 
 

Government of Jamaica (GOJ) new taxes  
 

Effective 1 January 2014, the Government of Jamaica enacted new tax measures to change the tax 
incentive regimes applicable to various industries. Given the current tax position of the Company, as 
disclosed in note (i) above, these new tax measures have resulted in changes in the income tax and 
capital allowances computations but will not materially affect the Company‟s tax position until the end 
of the tax remission period. Some of these changes are as follows: 

 
 Tax compliant entities are able to claim up to 30% of employer‟s and employees‟ statutory 

contributions (Employment Tax Credit (ETC)) against income tax for the year. Unused ETC , 
cannot be carried forward or refunded 

 The maximum capital allowances on private motor vehicles, which were previously  limited to 
J$3,200, increased to a maximum of US$35,000.  

 No initial allowances are given on the purchase of buildings; however, all other capital 
expenditure on buildings and other assets continue to attract initial allowances. 

 A Minimum Business Tax of $60,000 was enacted, payable in two installments, June 15 and 
September 15 of each year by registered companies. This tax can be set-off against income tax 
liability for the financial year but cannot be carried forward if unused in the respective year.   

 
8.   EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the 89,920,033 ordinary shares 
in issue. 
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10. INVENTORIES 

There were no inventory write-downs for the current or the previous year. 
 
11. RECEIVABLES  

 
 The aging of trade receivables and related impairment was: 
 

 
12. INVESTMENTS 

 

(i) This represents an amount loaned to a related entity, Derrimon Trading Company Limited. The 
amount was repaid during the year. 

      in the prior year.  
(ii) This represents a private placement arranged by Mayberry Investments Limited and matures in 

February 2017. 
(iii) This represents a repurchase agreement amounting to US$301,773 and maturing in July 2016.

 
Inventories comprise: 

2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Raw materials 49,972  40,391 

Finished goods 6,118  8,783 
Resale goods 15,661  13,699 

 71,751  62,873 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Trade                    38,121                     53,746 
Less: provision for bad debts (655)                        (501) 
 37,466  53,245 
Prepaid purchases  1,690  6,606 
Prepaid insurance 289  321 
Other   742 
 39,445  60,914 

 
Movement during the year in the allowance for doubtful debts account  
 

Balance at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 
Increase in provision 
Balance at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015 

501 
154 
655 

 501 
- 

501 

 2016 
$’000 

Impairment 

$’000 
2015 

$’000 

Impairment 

$’000 

Current & past due 31 to 60 days 35,264  51,419  
Past due 61 to 90 days 1,630  1,156  
Past due over 90 days 1,227 655 1,171 501 
 38,121 655 53,746 501 

    2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

(i)  8.25%  : Derrimon Trading Company Limited                          -  50,000 
(ii) 11.75% :Derrimon Trading Company Limited             15,000                      - 
(iii)1.35%   : NCB Capital Markets             37,803             - 
              52,803  50,000 
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13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Cash on hand 718             3,167 

J$ bank balances 65,523             9,227  

US$ and other foreign currency bank balances 58,391             24,094 

Fixed deposits -             17,000 

 124,632           53,488 

 
The weighted average effective interest rate on Jamaican dollar (J$) fixed deposits was 4.75% in 
2015. There were no fixed deposits as at 30 June 2016.  

 
14. PAYABLES  
 

 
15. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Trade 12,789  15,670 

General Consumption Tax (GCT) 3,649  6,223 
Audit fee 1,395  1,335 

Statutory contributions 467  554 

Vacation leave 630  500 
Customer deposits -  4,733 
Other 812  1,422 
 19,742  30,437 

    2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Authorized: 
91,452,000 ordinary shares of no par value  

   

Issued and fully paid:    
89,920,033 ordinary shares of no par value 56,200  56,200 
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16. STAFF COSTS  
 
 

 
The average number of persons employed full-time by the Company during the year is as follows: 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Casual labour 896                  3,231 
Redundancy 334  441 
Salaries and wages 21,050  14,002 
Statutory contributions 2,003  1,781 
Travelling allowance 1,379  699 
Staff welfare & training 2,920  2,166 
Health and group life insurance 1,787  968 

Vacation leave 130  - 
 30,499  23,288 

    2016 
 

 2015 
 

Full time 15  14 

Part time 3  2 
 18  16 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a) Financial risk management  
 

The Company has exposure to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk from its use of financial 
instruments in the ordinary course of business. Derivative financial instruments are not used to 
reduce exposure to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. 

 
(i) Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is represented by the carrying 
amount of each relevant financial asset. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents,  
 
The Company limits it exposure to credit risk by: 

 
 Placing cash resources with reputable financial institutions who they consider to be stable 

and have minimal risk of default and  
 Investing in liquid securities with credit worthy institutions.  

 
Trade receivables 
  
The Company‟s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer. Management has a credit policy in place under which each customer is 
analysed for credit worthiness prior to being offered credit. The Company does not require 
collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.  
 
At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk in respect of the 
five (5) major customers that comprise over 58 % (2015-47%) of the trade receivables 
balance.  
 
At 30 June 2016, amounts receivable from these customers aggregated approximately 
$21,770,875 (2015 - $25,364,052)  

 
Due to related parties 
 
At the reporting date there were significant amounts receivable and paid in respect to 
amounts due from and to related parties. 
 
There were no changes in the Company‟s approach to managing credit risk during the year. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Exposure to credit risk: 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred 
losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The allowances for doubtful debts are based 
on the ageing of the receivables, with write-offs made if attempts to collect fail and the amount 
is deemed uncollectible by management.  

  
(ii) Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the Company will encounter 
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity 
risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at or close to its fair value. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities.  
 
Liquidity risk is managed by the Company by maintaining committed lines of credit and by 
efficiently managing the Company‟s cash cycle. At the end of the reporting period, the 
Company was not exposed to any liquidity risk as current assets significantly exceeded current 
liabilities. 
 
 
 

    2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Cash and bank balances  124,632  36,488 

Accounts receivable 37,466  53,245 
Fixed deposits  -  17,000 
 162,098  106,733 

 
The aging of trade receivables at reporting date was: 

 
Current: below 30 days  29,742  41,748 
Past due 31-60 days  5,522  9,671 
Past due 61-90 days  1,630  1,156 

More than 90 days  1,227  1,171 
 38,121  53,746 
Provision for doubtful debt (655)  (501) 

 37,466  53,245 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 (ii) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

                            2016    
 Carrying 

Amount 
$’000 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

     $’000 

6 months  
or less 

$’000 

6-12  
months  

$’000 

1-2  
Years 
$’000 

2-5  
Years 
$’000 

Accounts payable 19,741 19,741 19,741 - - - 
Long-term liabilities - - - - - - 
Total financial liabilities 19,741 19,741 19,741 - - - 

 
 

                              2015    
 Carrying 

Amount 
$’000 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

$’000 

6 months  
or less 

$’000 

6-12  
months  

$’000 

1-2  
Years 
$’000 

2-5  
Years 
$’000 

Accounts payable 30,437 30,437 30,437 - - - 
Long-term liabilities - - - - - - 
Total financial liabilities 30,437 30,437 30,437 - - - 

 
(iii) Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. These arise mainly from changes in interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates and will affect the Company‟s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments.  

 
(iv)  Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market interest rates. Subject to normal conditions, the Company materially contracts 
financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for the duration of the term. Interest- bearing financial 
assets is primarily represented by cash and cash equivalents. Interest- bearing financial 
liabilities are represented by bank overdrafts and long term loans. At the reporting date, there 
were no bank overdrafts or long term loans.  
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

Financial instruments are subject to interest as follows: 
                    

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Fixed rate instruments:    
Financial assets 176,717  100,321 
Financial liabilities -  - 

 176,717  100,321 

 
At the statement of financial position there were no variable rate instruments: 

                                                                       
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 
An increase or decrease in basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would not have 
increased/ (decreased) profit for the year because there were no variable instruments held by 
the Company at 30 June 2016 (2015-nil%). 

 
(v) Foreign currency risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates, primarily the United States Dollars (US$) and Euro (€). 
 
Exposure to currency risk 
 
At 30 June 2016 the Company incurred foreign currency risk primarily on cash and cash 
equivalents, purchases and receivables that are denominated in a currency other than the 
Jamaican dollar. The principal foreign currency exposures of the Company are denominated in 
United States dollars (US$).   
 
Exposure to foreign currency risk on US$ denominated balances were as follows: 
 
 2016 

$’000 
 2015 

$’000 
    
Cash and cash equivalent                    397                         159 
Accounts receivable 
Investments 

                     31 
                    301 

                          87 
                           - 

Accounts payable                      (88)                         (159) 
US$                    641                           87 

Equivalent to                                                   J$                80,772                    10,128 
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17.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(v) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

Exposure to foreign currency risk on Euro (€) denominated balances were as follows: 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

    
Cash and cash equivalent                                 € 59  49 
Equivalent to                                                    J$  8,312  6,360 

 
Exchange rates in terms of the Jamaican dollar ($) to the United States dollar (US$) and Euro 
(€) were as follows: 
 
 US$  € 

At 30 June 2016 126.01  140.49 
At 30 June 2015 116.98   130.45 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
Changes in the exchange rates of the Jamaican dollar ($) to the Unites States dollar (US$) 
and the Euro (€) would have the effects on profit as described below: 

 
                                                                               Increase/(decrease)  
                                                                               in profit for the year 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

10% (2015:10%) strengthening 
        of the US$ and Euro (€) against the J$ 

                   
8,908 

                                
                      1,649 

1%  (2015 : 1%) weakening  
        of the US$ and Euro (€) against the J$ 

 
         (891) 

             
            (165) 

 
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2016 as that of 2015. 

 
 
    (b)  Capital management 

 
The Company manages the adequacy of capital by managing the returns on equity and borrowed 
funds to protect against losses on its business activities so as to be able to generate an adequate 
level of return for its stockholders. As a condition of its long term loans, the Company is required 
to have positive stockholders‟ equity. There are no other externally imposed capital requirements 
and there have not been any changes in the Company‟s approach to managing capital during the 
year.  
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17.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(c) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  

 
The following methods and assumptions have been used: 

 
(i)  The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due from related parties 

and accounts payable are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their relatively 
short-term nature. 

(ii) Long term loans, if any, approximate their fair values as these loans are carried at amortised 
cost reflecting their contractual obligations and the interest rates are reflective of market rates 
for similar loans. 
 

18.  DIVIDENDS 
 
    During the prior year the Company paid a Dividend of 10 cents per share to stockholders on 18 June  
    2015.  This dividend was approved as final on 25 November 2015 at the Annual General Meeting. 
 

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Apart from commitments to financial institutions, the management and directors of the Company were 
not aware of any significant claims, disputes and legal proceedings against the Company that could 
result in any material contingent liability. 

 
20.  RESTATEMENTS  

  
Interest expense was noted in the current year‟s cash flow and the comparative balance was also 
included in the financial statements for comparative purposes in the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 
21.  RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES  
 

(a) The statement of comprehensive income includes the following related party transactions 
 

 2016 
$’000 

 2015 
$’000 

Key management compensation:  
Salaries 

 
6,000,000 

  
7,500,000 

Rental expense:  
Paid to a company connected to a Director  

 
7,740,000 

  
7,200,000 

Directors fees:    
Management charges 1,430,000  980,000 

Interest income: 
Paid from a related company  

 
6,472,542 

  
2,695,890 
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22.  EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE 
 

As at 24 August 2016 the date these financial statements were approved and signed, management 
was not aware of any material subsequent event that should be disclosed to stakeholders.  

 

 



�

�

APPENDIX 3 
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APPENDIX 4 

 

Unaudited Financial Statements of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited for the quarter 

ended September 30, 2016 

 

  



 

CARIBBEAN FLAVOURS AND FRAGRANCES LIMITED 
REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS ON THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE  

FOR THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 

 

We are pleased to report on the performance of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited for 

the first Quarter ending September 30, 2016.  

Sales for the quarter were $101.148 million which represents a $13.684 million or 15.64% 

growth when compared to the $87.464 million recorded for the same period in 2015. The 

improvement to our revenue was primarily driven by increase in the sale of flavours in the 

domestic market as well as the sale of products to new customers.  In addition, there has been 

a 26.68% year over year increase in the sale of fragrances for the quarter thereby contributing 

positively to both the revenue and our profitability. 

The gross profit showed an increase of 12.96% moving from $32.856 million to $37.114 million 

as per our first quarter’s performance. The Company will continue to refine and improve our 

purchasing strategy in order to extract the necessary efficiencies and improve our cost of sales 

and gross profit. 

The company continues to manage its administrative and general expenses within budget and 

compared to the 2015 quarter, there has been an increase in order to adequately support the 

changing requirements of the business. 

The selling and distribution costs are a direct reflection of the sales growth and the expansion 

of our corporate social responsibility. As such expenses related to advertising and our 

donations and sponsorship have increased accordingly. We will continue to review these 

expenses and our distribution methods to ensure that efficiencies are obtained at all times.  

The net profit recorded for the period was $20.216 million and represents a 0.73% decrease in 

profit when compared to $20.363 million recorded for the similar comparative reporting 

period. We will continue to deliver on our business plans which are anchored on the pillars of 

revenue growth and expense management in order to deliver the desired results. 
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Unaudited Unaudited Audited

3 months ended 3 months ended 12 months ended

30 September 2016 30 September 2015 30 June 2016

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000

REVENUE 101,148                 87,464                   362,500                

Cost of sales (64,034)                  (54,608)                  (227,805)               

Gross profit 37,114                   32,856                   134,695                

Bad debt recovered -                          -                          -                         

Selling and distribution costs (989)                        (369)                        (5,013)                   

Administrative expenses (17,328)                  (14,068)                  (67,183)                 

Net finance income 1,419                      1,944                      11,571                  

Profit before tax 20,216                   20,363                   74,070                  

Taxation -                          -                          -                         

Net profit 20,216                   20,363                   74,070                  

Earnings per share $0.22 $0.23 $0.82

CARIBBEAN FLAVOURS AND FRAGRANCES LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2016
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3 months ended 3 months ended

30 September 2016 30 September 2015

$ '000 $ '000

CASH RESOURCES WERE PROVIDED BY/(USED IN):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 20,216                      20,363                      

Adjustment for non-cash income and expenses

   Depreciation 431                           132                           

   Interest income (1,419)                       (1,944)                       

19,228                      18,551                      

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

   Inventories (10,235)                    (22,363)                    

   Receivables and prepayments (19,748)                    18,025                      

   Payables and accruals 2,703                        (16,788)                    

   Tax recoverable (113)                          932                           

(27,393)                    (20,194)                    

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (8,165)                       (1,643)                       

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

   Purchase of property, plant and equipment (13,432)                    (291)                          

   Purchase of investments (37,500)                    (15,000)                    

   Interest received 1,419                        1,944                        

Net cash provided by investing activities (49,513)                    (13,347)                    

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

   Bank loan 12,700                      -                            

   Dividends paid (9,000)                       

Net cash used in financing activities 3,700                        -                            

NET INCREASE IN NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (53,978)                    (14,990)                    

   Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 124,632                   53,488                      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 70,654                      38,498                      

Represented by:

   Cash on hand 51,660                      726                           

   Bank balances 18,994                      37,772                      

70,654                      38,498                      

CARIBBEAN FLAVOURS AND FRAGRANCES LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2016



 

 

CARIBBEAN FLAVOURS AND FRAGRANCES LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

THREE MONTHS ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2016 

 

1. IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited (‘the Company”) is a company limited by shares, 

incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. Its registered office is located at 226 Spanish Town Road, 

Kingston 11. The principal activity of the company is the manufacture of and distribution of flavours 

mainly for the beverage, baking and confectionery industries. The company also sells food colouring and 

fragrances.  

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements of Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited have been prepared in 

accordance with and compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) under the 

historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets. The same 

accounting policies and methods of computation are followed in the unaudited financial statements as 

were applied in the audited financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2015. 

New Standards 

IAS 1 (Amended) 

Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2012), amendments to revise the way other comprehensive income is presented. 

  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 

the Company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best 

knowledge of current events and action, actual results could differ from those estimates.  The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 

significant to the financial statements are noted below: 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

The company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 

definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed below. 



 

 

 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 

statements are summarized below and have been consistently applied for all the yeas 

presented. 

 

Depreciable assets 

Management exercises judgement in determining whether cost incurred can accrue significant 

future economic benefits to the Company to enable the value to be treated as a capital expense. 

Further judgement is applied in the annual review of the useful lives of all categories of 

property, plant and equipment and their expected utility to the Company resulting in the 

depreciation determined thereon 

 

Allowance for losses 

In determining amounts recorded for provision for impairment of receivables in the financial 

statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 

whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a measureable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from receivables, for example, default and adverse economic 

conditions. Management also makes estimate of likely future cash flows from impaired 

receivables as well as the time of such cash flows. Historical cost experience is applied where 

indicators of impairment are not observable on individual significant 

receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

 

Comparative information 

Comparative figures have been reclassified, where necessary, to conform to changes in 

presentation in the current year. 

 

Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

Management exercises judgement in determining whether cost incurred can accrue significant 

future economic benefits to the Company to enable the value to be treated as a capital expense. 

Further judgement is applied in the annual review of the useful lives of all categories of 

property, plant and equipment and their expected utility to the Company resulting in the 

depreciation determined thereon. 

 

Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write-off the 

cost of fixed assets over their expected useful lives. The annual 

rates are as follows:- 

Leasehold property & improvements 10% 

Buildings 2 ½% 

Plant and machinery, furniture 

& fixtures, office equipment 10% 

Computer equipment 33⅓% 

Motor vehicles 25% 

 



 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed periodically for impairment. Where an 

asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down 

immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 

recognized in other income in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 

Repairs and maintenance expenditure are charged to statement of comprehensive income 

during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if there 

are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or material associated 

costs on the possible return of goods. 

 

Foreign currency translation 

Balances in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement of 

financial position date. Transactions during the year are translated at the exchange rate 

prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains or losses on translation are dealt with in the 

statement of comprehensive income. Exchange rates are determined by the weighted average 

rate at which Commercial Banks trade in foreign currencies as published by the Central Bank. 

 

Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value. A provision is made for impairment 

of trade receivables when it is established that there is objective evidence that the Company will 

not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. When a 

trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade 

receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the 

statement of comprehensive income. 

 

4. TAXATION -       

The Company’s shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on October 

7, 2013. Consequently the company is entitled to a remission of taxes for ten (10) years in the 

proportions set out below, provided the shares remain listed for at least fifteen (15) years.  

 Years 1 to 5 (October 7, 2013 – October 6, 2018) – 100% 

Years 6 to 10 (October 7, 2018 – October 6, 2023) – 50% 

 

5. EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT 

Earnings per stock unit are calculated by dividing the profit for the period by the weighted average 

number of shares in issue for the period. 

 

 

6. SHARE CAPITAL      2015   2014 

Authorised:  

91,452,000 ordinary shares of no par value  

(2012:5,621,000)  

Issued and fully paid:  

89,920,033 ordinary shares of no par value   56,200    56,200 

 



 

SHAREHOLDINGS OF TOP TEN (10) STOCKHOLDERS, DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
OFFICERS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016. 
 
TOP (10) STOCKHOLDERS       NUMBER OF SHARES HELD 

DERRIMON TRADING COMPANY LIMITED      44,078,122 

ANAND JAMES          11,689,604 

JOAN JAMES          11,689,604 

MAYBERRY MANAGED CLIENTS ACCOUNT         2,697,546 

IAN KELLY             2,322,814 

LLOYD BADLAL            2,019,382 

KONRAD BERRY            1,768,214 

HOWARD MITCHELL            1,444,395 

JCSD TRUSTEE SERVICES LTD. – SIGMA VENTURE        1,327,097 

MANWEI INTERNATIONAL LIMITED             975,828 

 

 

DIRECTORS 
ANAND JAMES          11,689,604 

IAN KELLY             2,322,814 

CLIVE NICHOLAS                100,000 

CARLTON SAMUELS                 50,000 

WILFORD HEAVEN              0 

DERRICK COTTERELL               0 

 

SENIOR MANAGERS 
ANAND JAMES          11,689,604 

JANICE LEE               0 

RHONDE MCPHERSON              0 

 

CONNECTED PARTIES 
JOAN JAMES (WIFE OF DIRECTOR ANAND JAMES)      11,689,604 

IAN KELLY (DIRECTOR OF DERRIMON TRADING LTD)        2,322,814 

ANTHONY JAMES (SON OF DIRECTOR ANAND JAMES)          820,700 

DERRICK COTTERELL (DIRECTOR OF DERRIMON TRADING LTD)         0 
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CARIBBEAN FLAVOURS AND FRAGRANCES LIMITED  
(226  Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11, Jamaica, W.I.) 

[Plant Machinery, Equipment, Furniture, Fixtures, Fittings and Leasehold improvements] 
 
 

To 
 
 

Mr. Derrick Cotterell 
Managing Director 

Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited  
226 Spanish Town Road  

Kingston 11, Jamaica 
 
 
 
 

BY 
 
 
 

E.B.I. AND ASSOCIATES LIMITED 

4 PEMBROOKE ROAD 
KINGSTON 2 

 
 
 
 

TEL#: (876) 631-2901: 805-0075;   FAX #: 631-2901  E-mail: ebibryan@netzero.com 
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CONTENTS 
 
 

PAGE 
 
PLANT, MACHINERY, EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, FIXTURES, 
FITTINGS AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 
 
SECTION A 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE          1 
 
MARKET VALUE DEFINITION         2 
 
APPRAISAL METHOD          2 
 
CONDITION DEFINITION          3 
 
AGE/LIFE SPAN           3 
 
CURRENT REALISABLE VALUE         3-4 
 
 
SUMMARY            4 
 

NET CURRENT REALISABLE VALUE   - J$16,501,700.00 4 
 
MACHINERY MAINTENANCE         4 
 
PLANT MARKETABILITY          4 
 
APPRAISAL CERTIFICATE          4 
 
THE REQUEST           5 
 
SECTION B 
 
SCHEDULES OF PLANT EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, FIXTURES     1-11  
FITTINGS AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 
 
SECTION C 
 
PHOTO GALLERY REPORTS  -  ASSETS      1-8 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.B.I. & Associates Limited 
Plant – Equipment – Furniture – Fixture – Auto – Craft:  Valuers; Engineers; Renovators 



 
 
CONCEPTUAL & FEASIBILITY STUDIES; ENGINEERING AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT; PROCUREMENT; CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT; ASSET CONTROL; 
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Ref: 15,04068/09     E-mail:  ebibryan@netzero.com 

 
 
December 15, 2016 
 
 
Mr. Derrick Cotterell 
Managing Director 
Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited 
226 Spanish Town Road 
Kingston 11 
Jamaica 
 
 
Dear Mr. Cotterell: 
 
Re: “INVENTORY/ CURRENT REALISABLE VALUES -ASSET OF PLANT, MACHINERY, 

EQUIPMENT, FURNITURE, FIXTURES, FITTINGS & LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS” 
 
      
S E C T I O N  A 
 
Responding to your instructions, we visited Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited, where we inspected 
and valued the asset of plant machinery, equipment, furniture, fixtures, fittings, and leasehold improvements, 
guided by your verbal instructions to execute said exercise and our discussions with you and other officers of 
Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited. 
  
Terms of Reference 
 

  To determine Inventory/Current Realisable Values - asset of plant, machinery, equipment, furniture, fixture 
and Leasehold improvements; these assets were primarily identified for us by Mr. Christopher Carless,        
Accountant, Miss Rhonde McPherson, Quality Assurance Manager and Mr. Rechal Turner, Production Supervisor 
and otherwise. 
 

 The verification of ownership of the assets was not requested nor done. 
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Market Value Definition 
 
Market value is the price in cash and kind that may be exchanged between a "willing buyer" and  
"willing seller" with equity to both, neither under compulsion to buy nor sell and is best evidenced by 
a quoted market price, if one exists, and both fully aware of all relevant facts as at an agreed date.   
 
Appraisal Method 
 
An appraisal is an estimate of value.  To arrive at this estimate, the appraisers follow an orderly 
procedure by which the appraisal problem is defined, the work necessary to solve the problem is 
planned, and the data involved acquired, interpreted and translated into an estimate of value. This 
procedure is called the appraisal method. 
 
At Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited, we paid attention to condition, marketability, duty and 
utility of the assets, while noting effective age and period of service.  Particular attention was paid to 
the element of obsolescence.  
 
There were signs of technological, functional and economic obsolescence evident; in some machines' 
electrical, mechanical and design features. 
 
Obsolescence is generally recognized as contributing to the loss from the upper limit of value of an 
asset being appraised.  In machinery and equipment where technology and state of the arts are 
continually changing in design, materials of construction, and manufacture, it is necessary to consider 
the degree of obsolescence that these changes contribute to the loss of value. 
 
Technological obsolescence relates to the difference between the design and materials of construction 
used in today machines as compared with some machines under appraisement. 
 
Functional obsolescence has to do with the difference in production rates and other capability 
characteristics between a new machine and the machine being evaluated. 
 
Economic obsolescence deals with influence external to the assets. It is defined as the impairment of 
desirability of useful life arriving from economic forces, such as changes in optimum usage, legislature 
enactments, which restricts or impairs property rights and changes in supply-demand relationship, and 
other. 
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Condition Definition 
 
Excellent Condition 
 
This describes units that appear new; fully functional; all original parts; 95% original functional 
operation or more. 
 
Good Condition 
 
This describes units of machinery/equipment, which have been modified/repaired and are used to or 
near its optimum capacity. 
 
Fair Condition 
 
This describes units of machinery/equipment that are being used below their specific use because of 
the effects of age, and/or applications that require general repairs to raise its functions close to original 
specification. 
 
Poor Condition 
 
This describes units of machinery/equipment that can only be used below the optimum capacity in 
current unserviceable condition. 
 
Scrap Condition 
This describes units of machinery/equipment that are no longer serviceable, and invariably may not be 
used for any practical purpose. 
 
Age/Life Span 
 
The plant machinery and equipment and other assets listed have a useful life span of approximately 
two (2) to approximately nine (9) years. 
 
Current Realisable Value 
 
The Net Realisable Value of assets estimates of realisable value are based on the most reliable 
evidence available at the time of the acquisition, other, and of the amount the assets are expected to 
realise at disposal; less a reasonable prediction of the costs associated with either the eventual sale or 
the disposal. 
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Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for which the asset is held. 
 
Summary 
 
This valuation exercise was conducted with emphasis on piecemeal disposal of the plant machinery, 
equipment, furniture, fixtures, fittings and leasehold improvements listed.  
  
Our findings reflect a Net Current Realisable Value of SIXTEEN MILLION FIVE HUNDRED 
AND ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS (J$16,501,700.00); even with this 
piecemeal disposal proposed here, a further 10-20% may be factored on/off certain items in expediting 
sale. 
 
In the main, the values listed may bear no relation to the original purchase prices; also, may not 
necessarily be indicative of the amounts realisable; further, we do not make any warranty, expressed 
nor implied.  
 
The appraiser's duties pursuant to his employment to make the valuation are complete upon delivery of 
this report, and he is not obliged because of this report to neither give testimony nor appear before any 
tribunal, unless specific arrangements were previously made. 
 
No responsibility is assumed for matters legal in character. 
 
All Rights Reserved. 
 
Machinery Maintenance 
 
The listed plant equipment, machinery, furniture and fixtures were generally in fair to good operational 
condition. At the time of our inspection, Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited were in 
operation.  
 
Plant Marketability 
 
The listed assets are in the main not unique to the present process, and as such, may find alternate 
application in many other commercial/industrial operations. 
 
Appraisal Certificate 
 
We certify that we have examined the assets listed. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the 
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statements contained in this report are true, and that we do not have any financial or other interest in 
the subject property. 
 
The Request 
 
This valuation report on Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited listed assets was made at the 
request of Mr. Derrick Cotterell, Managing Director, Caribbean Flavours and Fragrances Limited; 226 
Spanish Town Road, Kingston 11, Jamaica and inspection took place during the period of December 
2016. 
 
We thank you for doing business with us, and look forward to a continued mutually and beneficial 
relationship. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
E.B.I.  AND ASSOCIATES LIMITED 
 
E. Bryan Ingleton___ 
E. Bryan Ingleton 
Managing Director 
 
EBI: si 
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